




















































































































































































































=« e - T 7 B P

X N 6 G R BT = ET TR S ERD

Plaintiff and Cross-Defendant LARRY GERACI (hereafter “Geraci”) respectfully submits these |
points and authoritiss in support of His Démurrer to Cross-C‘omplai'nant;. DARRYL COTTON’s

"(liereafter‘ “Cotton® or “CrOss-Complainant) Second Amended Cross-Complaint filed on August 25,

2017 (hereafter “SAXC™).
I  RELIEF REQUESTED AND SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS
The SAXC alleges five caises of action by Cotton against Geraci: the first cause of action for.

breach of contract; the se¢ond éaus_é of. ac_tioﬁ for intentional nﬁsfepIGSﬁntation; the third cause of

‘action for negligent misrepresentation; the fourth cause of action for false promise; and.the fifth cause

of action for declaratory relief. Each of the five causes of action against Geraci arisés out of, or relates
to, a dispute concerning a. contract for the purchasa' 'and_usale; of teal property between Geraci and.
Cotton.” Geraci demiuts to the first, second, third, and fourth causes of action assérted agaﬁlst‘hhn.upor_ll
the folloﬁhg‘ grounds:

1. | The first canse of action for breach of contract faﬂs'tb state a cause of action because.
Cotton alleges an oral agreement (or partly oral, partly written agreement) for the purchase and sale of.
the subject real property that is barred by the applicable Statute of Frauds. (Civ. Code, § 1624(a)(3).)

9. 'I'he first cause of action for breach of contract fails.to state a cause of action because it
fails to allege a necessary element of that cause of action — actionable breach.

3. Esich of the misrepresentation claims, the second, third, and fourth causes of action for
the torts of intentional wmisrepresentation, negli gent misreprésentation, and false promise, respectively —
do not state a cause of action as Cotton has not alleged facts which, if true, are sufficient {o establish the
element of justifiable reliance.

4, Under California law there caﬁnot be a promissory fraud cause of action and a negligent
;nismpresentation cause of action based upon the same set of identical facts.

IL FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS .
The relevant factual allegations supporting Cotton’s first cause of action for breach of contract
are found in the paragraphs of the SAXC, as follows:

8. In or around August 2016, Geraci first contacted Cotton seeking to
purchase the Property. Geraci desired to buy the Property from Cotton because it meets
certain requirements of the City of San Diego (“City”) for obtaining a Conditional Use

6

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF CROSS-DEFENDANT GERACI'S
DEMURRER TO CROSS-COMPLAINANT COTTON'S SECOND AMENDED CROSS-COMPLAINT




—

MR N N R B2 MM
® N A A DN e S D RO E DD DS

MO -1 on th Bk W N

Permit (“CUP”) to operate a Medical Marijuana Consumer Cooperative (“MMCC”) at
the Property. The Propeity is one of & very limited number of properties located in San
Diego City Council District 4 that potentially satisfy the CUP requirements for a MMCC.

. 9. Qver the ensuing weeks and  months, Ge:aci and- Cotton negotiated
-extensively regarding the terms of a potential sale of the Property . . ..

13.  On November 2, 2016, Geraci and Cotton met at Geraci’s office in an
effort to negotiate the final terms of their deal for the sale of the Property. The parties
reached an agreement on the material terms for the sale of the Property. The parties
further. agreed. to cooperate in good faith the promptly reduce the complete agreement,
including all of the agresd-upon terms, to-writing.

14.  ‘The material terms of the agreement reached by the parties at -the
- November 2, 2016 meeting included, without limitation, the following key degl points:

- (8  Qeraci agreed to.pay the total sum of $800,000 in consideration for
the purchase of the Property, with a $50,000 non-refundable deposit payable to Cotton
immediately upon the parties’ execution of final integrated written agreements and the
-{Ieimaining 7?8 000 payable to Cotton upon the City’s approval of a CUP application for

e property; '

A

= (h)  The parties agreed that the City’s approval of a CUP application to

operate a MMCC at the Property would be a condition precedent to.closing the sale (in.

.othex-words, the sale of the Property would be completed and title transferred to Geraci

only upon the City’s approval of the CUP application and Geraci’s C!payment of the

$750,000 balance of the Ipurchase ptice to Cotton; if the City denied the CUP application,

the partics agreed the sale of the Property would be automatically terminated and Cotton.
would be entitled to retain the entire $50,000 non-refundable deposit;

(¢}  Geraci agreed to grant Cotton a ten percent (10%) equity stake in
the MMCC that would operate at the Property following the City’s approval of the CUP
application; and '

(d  Geraci agreed that, after the MMCC commenced operations at the
Property, Geraci would pay Cotton ten percent (10%) of the MMCC’s monthly profits
and t(;.‘xleraci would guarantee that such payments would amouxt to at least $10,000 per
monin.

15. At Geraci’s request, the sale was to be documented in two final written
agreements, a real estate purchase agreement and a separate side apreement, which
together would contain all the agreed-upon terms from the November 2, 2016 meeting.
At that eeting, Geraci also offered to have his attorney “quickly” drafi the final
integrated agreements and Cotion agreed, .

16.  Although the parties came to a final agreement on the purchase price and
deposit amounts at their November 2, 2016 meeting, Geraci requested additional time to
come up with the $50,000 non-refundable deposit. Geraci claimed he needed extra time
because he had limited cash flow and would require the cash he did have to fund the
lobbying efforts needed to resolve the zoning issue at the Property and to prepare the
CUP application.

17.  Cotton was hesitant to grant Geraci more tome to pay the non-refundable
deposit but Geraci offered to pay $10,000 towards the $50,000 total deposit immediately
as a show of “good-faith,” even though the parties had not reduced their final agreement

..
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to writing. Cotton was understandably concerned that Geraci would file the CUP
application before paying the balance of the non-refindable deposit and Cotton would
never receive the remainder of the non-refundable dsposit if the City denied the CUP
apphcatlon before Geract gald the remaining $40,000 (thereby avoiding the parties’
eement that the $50,0000 non-refundable deposit was intended to shift to Geraci some

0 the risk of the CUP application being denied). Despite his reservatlons, Cotton agreed.
to Geraci’s request angpaccepted the lesser $10,000 ‘initial deposit amount based upon

" Geraci’s express promise to pay the $40,000 balance of the non-refundable deposit prior

~ to submission-of the CUP apphcaﬁon, at the latest,

18. At the November 2, 2016 meeting, the parties executed a three-sentence
document related to their agreement on the purchase price for the Property at Geraci’s
request, which read as follows:

1 Cotton has agreed to sell the property located at 6176 Federal Blvd
CA or a sum of $800,00.00 to Larry Geraci or assignee of1 the approval of
a Marijuana Dl.SanSﬂI’Y {CUP for a dispensary)

Ten Thousand-dollars (cash) has been given in good faith earnest money
to be applied to the sales price of $800,000.00 and to remain in effect until
license 1s approved, Darryl Cotton has agreed not to enter mto any other
contacts[suﬁ ‘on this property. '

Geraci assurchCotton that the document was intended to merely create a record of
Cotton’s receipt of the $10,000 *good-faith” deposit and provide evidence of the parties®
agreement on the purchase price and good-faith agreement to enter into final integrated-
agreement documents related to the sale of the Property, Geraci emailed Cotton a
scanned ‘copy of the executed document he same day. Following. closer review of the
executed docurnent, Cotton wrote in an emml to Geraci several hours later {still on the

same day):
1 just noticed the 10% equity position in the dispensary was not language
added into that document. ' I just want to make sure that we’re not missing
that language in any final agreement as it is a factored element in my
decision to sell the property. I’ll be fine if you would simply acknowledge
that here in a reply.

Approximately two hours later, Geraci -Ieblied via email, “No no problem at all.”

Paragraphs 19-28 set forth a litany of factual allegations that can be summarized as follows:
The written agreement signed November 2, 2016, did not contain all. of the material terms and
conditions of the agreement that Cotton alleges were really agreed to on November 2, 2016, After

signing that incomplete written agreement!, the parties had numerous oral and written communications

! Plaintiff and Cross-Defendant Geraci alleges in his Complaint that the written agrecment signed November 2, 2016,
contains all the material terms and conditions of the agreemant for the purchase and sale of the subject real property and is
the sitire agreement enforceable between the parties. . Defendant and Cross-Comp]ainant Cotton contends that written
#greement signed November 2, 2018, sets forth only some of the material terms and conditions agreed to by the parties on
November 2 and some dlfferent and addxt;onal material terms and conditions not reflected in a signed writing were agreed
to by the parties.
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gdbout abcummt_ing‘ in asigned writing all the material terms and condiﬁons.Co’tton_ aileges had been

agreeii‘to orally ‘on November 2", but never did so0. In oﬂi{e_t wGrds;.ther'e is no written agreement

signed-by Cotton-and Geraci containing all of the material terms and conditions Cotton alleges were |

rgreed to on November 2%, In addition, one of those material terms and conditions Cotton claims was
orally agreed to ($50k eamnest money) directly contradicts the November 2, 2016, wﬁtten- agreement
‘which ‘clearly states that $10k would be paid as earnest money and acknowledges that such payment
has bocn received, '

Il. LEGAL STANDARD ON DEMURRER

When .2 ‘complaint, or any cause of action in a cotplaint, fails to state’facts sufficient to

constifute a caise of action, the court may grant a demurrer. (Code Civ. Proc., § 430.3{).;); The court | .

coﬁ.'sid_ers the allegations on the:face of the compiaint and-any matter of which it muist or may take
judicial notice under the Code of Civil Procedure sectiori 430.30(a). (Groves v. Peterson (2002),
100 Cal. App.4th 639; Code Civ. Proc., § 430.30(a).) In reviewing ihe sufficiency of a ‘complairit
against a demurrer, the conrt ireats 1the\_de,m‘ur‘rer as admitting all material facts properly pIeade_d.
(Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 318 (citing to Serrano v. Priest (1971) 5 Cal.3d 584, 591);
Adelman v. dssociated Ins. Co. (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 352;359.) ‘However, contentions, 'dedui:'tibns; or
conclusions of fact of'law 'aré-insufﬁcient to constitufe a cause of action. (Jd.)

The court may grant a demurrer with or without leave to amend when it is deio‘iis from the
facts alleged that the plaintiff could not state a cause of action. (See. Hillman v. Hillman Land Co:
(1947) 81 Cal.App.2d 174, 181; see generally Carney v. Simmonds (1957) 49 Cal.2d 84, 97; see
Smiley v. Citibank (1995) 11 Cal.4th 138, 164; Code Civ. Proc., § 430.30().) The party seeking leave
to amiend their pleading bears the burden of establishing that there is a reasonable possibility that the
defect can be cured by amendment. (See Blank v. Kirwan, sipra, 39 Cal.3d at p. 318; Gould v.
Maryland Sound Industries (1995) 31 Cal.App.4th 1137, 1153.)

i

v
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IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT
A.  THE FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT PAILS TO.

STATE A CAUSE OF ACTION |

1. Cotton’s Allegations of an Oral, or of a Partly Oral or Partly Writien |

Agreement,. Violate. the Applicable Statute of Frauds — Civ. Code §

1624(2)(3) -

A contract coming within the statute of frauds is invalid unless it is memorialized by a writing
subscribed by the party to be charged or by the party’s agent. (Civ: Code, § 1624; Secrest v, Security
National Mortgage Loan Trusi, (2008); 167 Cal. App4th 544) Ani agreement for the _sale of réal
property or.an interest in real property comes within the statute of friuds. (Civ. Cq'de, § 1(?24(5)(3};)

| Here, both parties aliege, and therefore it is undisputed, that they signed a Nb\iember 2, 2016, writtén

agreement. This written agreement between the parties is the controlling evidence under the statute of
frauds. Cotton' alleges, based. on extrinsic evidence, fhat the actual agreement between thie parﬁes
contains material terms and conditions in addition fo thoSe in the wiitten agreement as well as a term (a
$5 0,000 deposit rather than the $10,000 deposit stated in the written agreement) that expresély conflicts
w1th a term of the November 2, 2016 agreement. However, such a claim cannot stand s extrinsic
evidence cannot be employed to prove an agreement at odds with the terms of the writtén
memotandum. (Beazell v. Schrader (1963) 59 Cal.2d 577.)
The conh’o-lling law is set forth in Sterling v. Tavlor (2007) 40 Cal.4th 757, as follows:

We emphasize that 2 memorandum of the parfies’ agreement is controlling cvidence:
under the statute of frauds. Thus, extrinsic evidence cannot be employed to prove an
agreement at odds with the terms of the memorandum. This point was made in Beazell v,
Schrader (1963) 59 Cal.2d 577, 30 CalRptr. 534, 381 P.2d 390, There, thé plaintiff
sought to recover a 5 percent real estate broker’s commission tinder an oral agreement,
(Id atp. 579,30 Cal.Rptr. 534, 381 P.2d 390.) The escrow instructions, which specified
a 1.25 percent commission, were the “memorandum” on which the plaintiff relied to
comply with the statute. However, he contended the instructions incorrectly reflected the
parties” actual agreement, as shown by extrinsic evidence: (/4 at p. 580, 30 Cal Rpir.
534, 381 P.2d 390,) The Beazell court reject this argument, holding ‘that nnder the
statute of frauds, “the parol agrecment of which the writing is 2 memorandum must
be one whose terms are consistent with the terms of the memorandum.” (4 at
p. 582, 30 Cal.Rptr, 534, 381 P,2d 390.) Thus, in determining whether extrinsic evidence
provides the certainty required by the statute, courts. must bear in mind that the evidence
canpet contradict the terms of the writing. (Bold added.)

Sterling v. Taylor, sipra, 40 Cal 4th at p. 771-772.
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See also. Ukkestad v:. RBS Assef Finance, Inc. (2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 156 (“In th; context-of a
case arising from a dispute over the certainty of the terms of sale of real propetty, our Supreme court
recently endotsed a i‘ﬂex_ible, prdgmaﬁc view,” under which uncertain written contractual terms comply
with the statute of frauds as long as the can be made certain by reference to extrinsic evidence, and as
long as the evidence is not used to contradict the written terms. (Sterling, supra, 40 Cal4th at
p. 771, fn. 13.).) See also, Jacobs v. Locarezli (2017) 8 Cal.App.5th 317, 325 (“As a result of Sterling,
it is indisputably -the law that “when ambiguous, termy in 2 memorandum are dispited, extrmsm
evidence is ‘admissible to resolve the uncertainty:™ (Sterling, supra, 40 Cal4th at p. 767.) Tha
agréement roust still_pr_ovirdérthe‘e;t:sé'nﬁal terrms, and it is “clear thiat extrinsic evidence cannot supply
those required terms.” (/bid.)} '

Iin the instant case, the only writing signed by. bath parties is the November 2, 2016 written
agteement, which explicitly provides for a $10,000 down paymént (“earnest money to be applied to the

sales pﬁcﬁe”); in fact, the agreement acknowledges receipt of that':'doWn payment. Cotton is-alleging

thatithe oral agreement provided for a down payment of $50,000, which is in 'direct'conh?adictiOn of the

written term of a $10,000 down payment.

2. The ¥irst Cause of Action for Breach of Contract Fails as a Matter of Law:

as It Does Not Allege Actionable Breach

“To pre;uail on a cause of action for breach of contract, the plaintiff must prove (1) the contract,
(2) plaintiff’s performance of the contract or excuse for nonpetformance, (3) defendant’s breach, and
(4) resulting damdge to the plaiutift.” (Rickman v. Hartley, (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 1182, 1186.) “liis
Hombook law that an agreement to make an agreement is nugatory, and that this is true of material

terms of any contract.” (Roberis v. Aidams (1958) 164 Cal.App.2d 312, 314.) “[NJeither law nor equity

provides a remedy for a breach of an agreement to agree in the future.” (7. at p. 316)

The pertinent allegations regarding Cotton’s breach of contract cause of action are found in the
SAXC as follows:

36.  Under the parties’ contract, Geraci was bound to negotiate the terms of an

* agreement for the Property in. good faith. (eraci breached his obligation to negotiaté in
good faith by, among. other things, intentionally delaying the process of negotiations,
failing to deliver acceptable final purchase documents, failing to pay the agreed-upon
non-refundable deposit, demanding new and unreasonable terms in order to further delay
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and hinder the process of riegolia

d 55 of negoliations, and failing to timely or constructively response to.
Cotton’s requests and corariunications. ' w

It is basic contract law that'a breach of contract occurs when a party to a confract deliberately

refuses to do that which he or she has agreed and is required to under the. contract. (Spangenberg v.

Spangenberg (1912) 19 Cal.App, 439.) A confract may be breached by “nOﬂparforhance—,” meaning &n |-

unjustified failure to perform a"ma'ter'ial_ contractual obligation when perfc_)rmance is due, it may be

breachéd by repudiation, or it may be breached by 2 combination of the two, (Central Valley General

Hosp. v. Smith (2009) 162 Cal. App4th 501.)

~ The written contract entered on November 2;'2012 reads as follows:

+ Darryl Cotton has agreed to sell the property located at 6176 Federal Blvd, cA for a sum.
of $800,000.00 to Larry Geraci or assignee on the approval of a. Marijuana Dispensary.
(CUPfora dispensary) - :

Ten Thousand dollars (cash) has been given iii good faith eamnest money to be applied to
the sales price of $800,000.00 and to remain in effect until license is approved; Darryl
Cotton has agreed not to enter into dny other contacts (sic).on this property. (SAXC {18)

Cotton has not alleped that Geraci breached any. obligations set forth in the Novenber 2, 2016

{written agreement. Cotton has not alleged Geraci failed to pay the $10k earnest money (in fact, the

written agreement ackﬁbWIedgéé it has been paidj. And Cotlon has not-alleged the CUP Application
has been approved and Geraci has failed to terider the remaining balance of the purchase price.

Instead, Cotton alleges that on November 2, 2016, the parties orally apreed to other and
different. material termns and conditions not set forth in the November 2, 2016, written agreement,
in¢luding an obligation 1o negotiate in 'good faith to reduce these other and different material terms and.
conditions to a signed writing, and that Geraci breached the alleged agreement by failing to negotiate in
good faith to do so. (SAXC,136)

This alleged failure to negotiate in good faith to reduce these other and different material terms-
and cornditions to a signed writing cannot as a matter of law constitute an actionable breach. It is|
simply an admission by Cotton that these alleged. other and different material terms and condit_ioius

were never reduced to a writing sign by both Cotton aud Geraci, and, therefore, the alleged oral (or
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partly ofal, partly written) apreement alleged by Cottori is barred iy the Statute of Frauds. Cotton
cannot bootstrap g:ougd;the Statute of Frauds by alleging that Geraci’s failure to negotiate in good faith.
to reduce these other and djffcrent material terms -and conditions to_a signed writing was itself an
actionable breach of an otherwise unenforceable cbﬁtfac_t. | :

B. THE SECOND, THIRD AND FOURTH CAUSES OF ACTION FAIL TO STATE
A CAUSE OF ACTION

| R Each of the misrepresentation claims, the 2ad, 3rd and 4th causes of action

for mtentmnal misrepresentation, ‘negligent mlsrepresentatmn, and. false’

promise, do not state a cause of action. Cotton has not alleged facts which, if

true, are sufficient to establish the element of ]ushfiable reliance, ;

In order to state a cause of action for intentional m_lsreprcsentatlon,.ncgl1g¢nt rrusrcpresei;tation,

or false p_roﬁﬁse, the’ _plaintiff must allege réasonable reliance on defendant_.reprgsentaﬁons. (CACI Nbs‘;

1 90_0,- 1902, and 1903.) An essentiel element for a claim of pronﬂésory-.ﬁaud is & specific allegation of

{|teliance .that is reasonable. (Behrike v. State Farm (_201 1) 196 Cal. App.4th 1443, 1452, (noting

“justifiable reliance” and ‘ireas‘onabls teliance” by the promisee are an essential element).) Stated

differently, to. recover for fraud, Plaintiff must show' it reasonably relied on the defendant’s

misrépresentations. A Plaintiff cannot recover if reliance was not justified or reasonable. (Wagner v.
Benson (1980} 101 C;i_l,App.?;dZ?,._SG (“plaintiffs’ reasonable -reliallice.on'ﬂlchlleged misrepresentation’ |
is an essential element of fraud”).) “The law is well established that actionable mistepresentations must
pertain to past or ¢xisting material facts. Statements or predictions regarding future events are deemed
to be mere ﬁpinjqns which ate not actionable.” (Cansino v. Bank of America (2014) 224. Cal.App.4th
1462, 1469.)

“I'TThere ate two causation elements in a frand cause of action. First, the .plaintiffs actual and
justifiable reliance on the defendant’s misrepresentation must have caused him to take a detrimental
course of action. Second, the detrimertal action taken by the plaintiff must have caused his alleged
damage.” (Beckwith v. Dakl (2012) 205 Cal. App.4th 1039, 1062.)

“Actual reliance occurs when a misrepresentation is “‘an immedijate cause of fa plaintiffs]
conduct, which alters his legal relations,”” and when, absent such represe_ntéﬁon, “he would not, in all
reasonable probability, have entered into the contract or other transaction.” {(Engala v. Permanente

Medigal Group, Inc. (1997) 15 Cal.4th 951, 976-977.)
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““Besides actual reliance, [a) plaintiff must also show “justifiable” reliance, i.¢., circumstances
were such to inake it reasonable for [the) plaintiff to rely on defendant’s statements without an
independent inquiry or investigation,” [Citation.] The reasonableness of the plaiftifi’s reliance i judged |
by reference to the plaintifs knowledge and experience. (S. Witkin, Summary of Cal. Law, Torts;
§ 808, p. 1164.) “E}-cc»ept in the rare case where the undisputed facts leave no room for a reasonable
difference of opinion, the::' question of whether a plaintiff’s reliance is reasonable is  question of fact.”
[Citations.]’ '[C.itagion.”j (Ocm Principal Opportunities Fynd v. Cibe World Markets Corp. (2007)
157Cal. App.411.835, 864:865.) ’ ‘

When 'é-.pm'm_i_se contradicts the express terms of the contract, proving justifiable reliance fs an
uphill batfle. (Pacific State Bank v. Greene (2003) 110 Cal App.4th 375, 393.') This 1s because of the
general pﬁnciple that a party who signs a contract “cannot complaih:of unfamiliarity with the language
of the instrument” (Madden&. Kaiser Foundazion’Hosp.f}azs (1976)-17 Cal ;3d 699, 710), the defravded
party must show & reasonable reliance on the misrepresentation tﬂat excuses the failure to familiarize
himself with the contents of the document. (Rest.2d Contracts, §§ 164, 166; California Trust Co. v.
Cohn (1932).— 214 Cal. 6 19.) TPor instance, a “parfy’s umreasonable- reliance on the other’s
HﬁsrepmSEDfations, resulting in a faiIu-rc to read a written agreement before signing it, is an insufficient
basis, under the doctrine of fraud in the execution ... * for permitting that party to void the agreement.
(Rosenthal v. Great Western Fin. Securities Corp. (1996)14 Cal 4th 394, 423,) Thus, the particular
circumstances of the contract’s execution, including the prominent and discernible provisions of the
contents of the writing in issiie, must make it reasonable for the party claiming fraud to ha've
nonetheless relied on the mischaracterization. This is not an easily met burden of proof. A

More importantly for purposes of this demurrer, Cotion has not alleged facts which, if true, are
sufficient to support a finding of reasonable reliance. This is self-evident considering that the
misrepresentations Cotton is claiming reliance upon are in direct conflict with the clear, una;’nbiguous
written agreement signed by Cotton. It does not appear Cotton can amend to allege a factual scenario
by which Cotton would be able to establish reasonable reliance on alieged mistepresentations made by

Geraci.

)
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. Furthermore, Cotton has admitted that he was hesitant, understandably concerned and despi{e' -
his hesitation, concerns and reservations he agrcéc__i' to Geraci’s terms. (SAXC 1}17)- It is difficult to
reconcile Cotton’s hesitation, coneerns and Teservations in dealing with Geraci with his claim to have
reasonably relied on Geraci’s representations. Rather it appears that Cotton d1d not trust Geré'ci’s
alleged representations and entered. the ﬁgreeme’nt regardless of his misgivings regarding Geraci: Such
reliance cannot b-e said to have been reasonable in light of Cbtton’s admissions in his pleadings.

s The Third Cause of Action for, Negligent M:srepresentatmn Fails to State a

Claim Upon Which Relief May Be Granted Because Intentional Frand and’
Negligent Misrepresentation Base On the'Same Facts Cannot Co-Exist

Cross-Complainant’s Fourth Cause of Action labeled “False Promise”, is for a type of -ﬁ'aud

often referred to-as “promissory fraud;” i.e,, a promise made without the intent to perform. (SAXC,

M 47-54) Cross-Comgl_ainant’s Third Cause of Action for Negligent Misrepresentation and Fourth.

Cause of Action fbr promissory fraud, rely upon the same exact facts (SAXC 94 43, 47), incorporatihg
by reference all prevmus allegatlons of the complaint], and atternpt to plead the “false promise” cause
of action alternatively w1ﬂ1 the “negligent mxsrepresentatlon” ‘cause .of actmn While pleading

a[tamar_wa legal theories based on the same facts is usually acceptable, in this instance Cross-

‘Complainant’s Third Cause of Action fails because California law clearly holds that a promise made.

without the intent to perfbrm cannot form the basis for a claim of negligent misrepresentation,

Cross-Complainant’s Third Cause of Action (Negligent Misrepresentation) is on all fours with,
and is governed by, the decision in Tarmann v. State Farm (1991) 2 CaI_.AppAtﬁ 153, Thv:re, plaintiff
alleged claims for friud and negligent misrepresentation based on her contention that the defendant
msurer had falsely promised that it would pay for repairs to her automobile upon their completion.
When the insurance company in fact declined to pay; pla}nﬁﬁf_ brought an actif)n alleging that the
insurer’s representations abo;ut payment were either intentionally or negligently fais_e.

The trial court sustained Defendant’s demurrer to the negligent misrepresentation claim without
leave to amend, and the Court of Appeal-affirmed. In -so doing, it began its analysis by noting that “to
be-actionable, a negﬁgcnt misrepresentation must ordinarily be as to past or existing méterial facts.
[Plredictions. as to future events, or statements as to future action by some third party, are deemed

opinions, and not actionable fraud. [Citations omitted].” (Tarmann, supra, 2 Cal. App.4th at p. 158.)
15 ?.
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‘misrepresentation. The Demuizer to the Third Canse of Action, as in Tarmann, should be sustained

There is no-question that Cotton alleged that the basis of his allegations regarding fraud were that
Geraci promised to take certain actions in the future. (See SAXC ‘]}1['45(0), 45(b), 48(a), 48(b), 48(c),
48(d).) ' '

The Court went on to compare the eléments of frand and negﬁgent mistepresentation, as
follows:

To maintain an action for deceif based on a false promise, one must specifically allege
and prove, among other things, that the promisor did not intend to perform at the time he
or she made the promise and that it was intended to deceive or induce the promise to do
or not to do a particular thing. [Citations omjitted]. Given this requirement, an action
based on: a filse piroinise is simply a type of . intentional misrepresentation, i.e., actual.
fraud. The specific intent requirement also precludes pleading a fulse promise claim as.a
negligent misrepresentation, i.e., ‘the assertion, as a fact, of that which is not true, by one
who has nio reasonable ground for believing if to be true.” (Civil Code Section 1710,
subd. (2).) Simiply put, making a promise with an honest but unreasonable imtent to
perform is wholly. different from making one with no intent 1o perform and, therefore,
does not constifute a false promise. Moreover, we decline to-establish a new type of
actionable deceit: the negligent false promise. In light of our discussion, the trial ‘court
propeily sustained the demuvrrer to [Plaintiff’s] cause of action for negligent
misrepresentation.” Zarmann, supra, 2 Cal.App.4th at 159 (emphasis added.)

Cross-Complainant cannot bave it both ways. His allegations that Plaintiff made promises

about fiture actions without the intent to perform simply cannot support a claim for negligent

without laave to amend. 7
V. LEAVE TO AMEND
The Court may grant a demurrer with or without leave to amend, and the burden is on the party

secking leave to amend: their pleading to establish that the pleadfng is capable of amendment. (See
Hillman v. Hillmar Land Co., .s;upra, 81 Cal.App.2d at p. 181; see generally Carney v. Simmonds,
supra, 49 Cal.Qd at p. 97; see Snﬁley v. Citibank, supra, 11 Cal4th at p. 164; see Blank v. Kirwan,
supra, 39 Cal.3d at p. 318; Gould v. Maryland Sound Indusr?igs, supra, 31 Cal.App4th at p. 1153;
Code Civ. Proc., § 430.30; Cal. Rules of Court, rule 3:1320(g).) A plaintiff does not meet its burden
unless it advises the trial court of new information that would contribute to a meaningful amendment.
(See e.g. Ross v. Creel Printing & Publishing Co. (2002) 100 Cal. App.4th 736, 749.) 7

This Court should grant the motion without leave to amend unless Cross-Complainant makes an

offer of proof that he can in good fuith allege facts establishing the elements of each of the remaining
16
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VI. CONCLUSION

Forr,tb',e foregoing reasons and subjet. to & sufficient offer of proof, Geraci’s demurrers to each

of the causes of actid_n should each be sustained without leave to amend.

Dated: September 28, 2017 FERRIS & BRITTON,

A Pxofessmnal Corporanon

By: M P
g\ 1chaelR Wemsteln
* Seott H. Toothacre ,
Attomcys for Plaintiff and’ Cross~Defendant
LARRY GERACI
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i demurrer is sustained, *“it is an abuse of discretion to sustain a demutrer without leave to
2 amend if there is any rea.s.onable possibility that the defect can be cured by amendment.”
<3 (Goodman v. Kennedy (1976) 18 Cal. App.3d 335, 349,)
4 - v
3 ARGUMENT
6 A The Statute of Frauds Does Not Apply to Bar the SACC
7 The SACC states facts supporting a claim for breach of a contract. Cotton alleges
8 Geraci has failed to perform the parties’ agreement reached in November 2016, Cotton alleges
9 the agreement at issue is an agreement to negotiate in good faith to artive at a commercially
10 || reasonable and fully integrated written agreement or agréements to docunent the terms for sale
11§ ofthe Property. (SACC,p.6,%18.) Cotion alleges this agreement is evidenced by the
12l writings attached to the SACC as Bxhibits 1 and 2, (SACC, p. 6,‘;{ 18,) Both writings are
13 subscribéd to by Geraci and are therefore outside the purview of the statute of frauds,
14 Ultimately, Geraci’s demurrer request is irretrievably flawed, as it is based on the
15| mistaken premises f:hat: (1) there is no dispute as to the intérpretation of the November .
16 1| Document and the November Emails; and (2) that the $50,000.00 deposit alleged in the SACC
171l contradicts the November Document’s reference to $10,000.00 of “catnest money.” As to the
18§} first point, the existence of a dispute over the terms of the parties’ agreement is abundgntly
19| clear from the allegations of the SACC as compared to the allegations of Geraci in the
20 I Complaint, The parties do not agree as to what comprises the terms of this contract, The
21|l SACC properly alleges the existence of a written agreement and refers to parole evidence to
224 provide detail as to uncertain terms contained in those writings. Accordingly, the statule of
23 || frauds does not apply,
24 Second, the alleged acknowledgement as to payment of $10,000.00 in the.November
25 Document is not in conflict with a $50,000.00 deposit. $10,000.00 was péid and an additional
26 || $40,000.00 would be captured in the final agteernent which Geraéi promised to have hig
27 || lawyer prepate. (SACC, p. 5, 94 14(2), 15, and 16; p. 6,7 17.) Cotton agreed to allow a
28
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L\t partial down payment of $10,000.00 — at Geraci’s insisténce, no less —with the balance of the
2 || money (840,000.00) due af a later date because Geraci needed additional time to come up with
3 the full $50,000.00 deposit. (SACC, p. 5,79 14(), 16; p. 6, § 17 [“Colton was hesitant to
4 grant Gezaci more time to pay the non-fundable deposit but Geraci offered fo pay $10,000.00
5 towards the $50,000.00 total deposit immediately as a show of “good-faith,” even though the
6 || parties had not reduced.their Jinal agreement 1o writing.”} [emphasis added}) Contrary, then,
7 to Getaci’s assertions, the evidence that Cotton seeks to introduce is consisfent with - not
8 || contradiciory to - the parties written memorandum and is, thus, admissible under Sterling v.
9 Taylor (2007) 40 Cal.4th at 757, as a parole agreement cotisistent with the terms of a writing,
10|} (Sterling, supra, 40 Cal.4th at 771-772 [holding that under the statute of frauds a parole
114  agreement must be “one whose terms are consistent with the terms of the memorandum.”])!
12 |1 As such, Geraci’s initial attempt to demurrer Cotton’s First Cause of Action is unavailing.
13 Cotton also states a valid claim for breach of contract for another reason. Under
14| Copeland v, Baskin Robbins U.8.4. (2002) 96 Cal, App.4th 1251, 1256, Cotton states a valid
I5 )| breach-of-contract claim if he alleges facts showing that (a) Geraci and he had agreed to
16 || negotiate in good faith; and (b) that the failure “Uo reach ultimate agreement resulted from o .
17 || breach of that’s party obligation to negotiate or to negotiate in good fuilh.” (Id. at p. 1257,
18| emphasis added.) Cotton does precisely this in the SACC, In fact, the parties’ use of the
19} phrase “carnest money” confirms Cotton’s interpretation of the November Document and the
20§l November Emails as providing for further negotiation in good faith to atrive at g final
21|t agreement? (SACC,p. 6,4 18.) Cotton’s SACC alleges that Geraci did not honor this
22|l obli gation, Cotton, for instance, alleges that Geraci intenfionaily delayed further negotiations,
23 || that Geraci failed to deliver purchase documents, and that Geraci failed to fully pay the agreed~
24 |
25 .
! Notably, in Sterling the Court ruled in the context of a summary judgment motion, not in the confext of a
26 demurrer, ‘
2 Black’s Law Dictionary defines “earnest money” as a “deposit paid (oftert in escrow) by a prospective byyer
27 || (esp. of real estate) to show a good-faith Intention to complete the transaction, and ordinarily forfeited i the
" buyer defaults,” :
28
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upon $50,000.00 deposit. (SACC, p. 12, 36.) If these allegations are assumed as true, as
they must be, Geraci’s demurrer to the first cause of action of the SACC should be denied,

B. The SACC Alleges Actionable Breach

Geraci further attempts to demurrer Cotton’s First Cause of Action by arguing that
Geraci fulfilled all the terms of the November Document and that, in any event, Cotton did not
have a duty to act in good faith because the November Document did not contain a good-faith
term, {Demurrer, p. 12, Ins, 16-27.) Geraci’s first assertion is patently belied by the simple
fact that the terms of the November Docﬁment fail to reflect all of the parties’ material terms.
Geraci, thus, is wrong in ssserting that he fulfilled all of the terms of the parties® agreement:
He breached af Jeast one material term of if, viz., the promise to negotiate in good faith to
deliver a proposed final agreement, the promise to deliver a 10 percent interest in the property,
and failing to pay the amounts dué for the $50,000.00 deposit. (SACC, p.11, 4 36.)

Geraci’s second contention (Z.e., that he had no duty to act in good faith) fares nio betier,

. The courts have made clear that “[tlhere is an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing

- inevery contract that neither party will do anything which will injure the right of the other to

receive the benefits of the agreement.” (Comunale v. Traders & General Ins. Co. (1958) 50
Cal.2d 654, 658.) As Geraci himself points out in quoting vetbatim the November Document,
the parties agreed to close the sale of the property for $800,000.00 upon the City of San
Diego’s future approval of the CUP application. (Demurrer p. 8, Ins, 5-11 [quoting verbatim
the parties’ NOVGII:leI’ document.]} Even assuming the parties’ agreement was captured solely
by the November Document, California law bound Geraci to act in good faith, Without
question, the SACC alleges just such a breach, namcl-y, that Geraci intentionally delayed
further negotiations, that Geract failed to deliver purchase documents, and that Geraci failed to
fully pay the agreed-upon $50,000 deposit. (SACC, p, 11, 136.)

Simply put, Geraci’s attempts to demurrer Cotton’s First Cause of Action ate

unavailing,

AN
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1 C, Cotton’s SACC Properly Pleads Causes of Action
5 for Intentional and Negligent Mistepresentation and False Promise
3 1. Cotton Alleges Faots Proving thai Geraci
% Engaged in Intentional Misrepresentation and False Promise
5 To stale a claim for intentional misrepresentation, Cotton must allege that Geraci
6 mistepresented a fact he knew was false, Geraci intended to defraud Coiton, and Cotton
7 |i Justifiably relied on Geraci’s representations and suffered damage as a tesult, (Engaila v,
8 Permanente Medical Group, Inc. (1997) 15 Cal.4th 951, 974). The elements of False Promise
9 || are nearly identical, (Beckwith v. Dahl (2012) 205 Cal. App.4th 1039, 1059-1060 [“ina
10 i promissory fraud action, to sufficiently allege defendant made a misrepresentation, the
11l complaint must allege (1) the defendant made a representation of intent to perform some future
i2 || action, L.e., the defendant made a promise, and (2) the defendant did not really have that intent
13 || atthe time that the promise was made, i.¢., the promise was false™]; see also CACI 1902
14 || [entitled False Promise])
15 - Cotton’s SACC pleads facts in support of all these clements on pages 12-13 and on
16 || pages 15-16. To summarize, the SACC alleges that Geraci:
17 » Falsely represented to Cotton that the November 2, 2016 agreement was not the
18 || parties’ final, full, and integrated contract between them;
19 . Falsely represented to Cotion that he (Geraci) would honor the terms of the
203 parties’ agreement by, among other things, memorializing in writing the full scope of thie terms
21| oftheir agreement and by exerting good-faith efforts to close the sale of Cotton’s Propetty;
22 » Falsely represented to Cotton that he (Geraci) would remit the balance of the
23 || $50,000.00 nen-refundable deposit; and -
24 . That, as a result of Geraci’s rebresen‘rations, Cotton justifiably relied on
25 || Geraci’s promises, and that Cotion has incurred harm in the form of diminished property value -
26 [t and attorneys’ fees. (/d.) In fact, Geraci assured Cotton he could be relied upon because as an
27 || “Enrolled Agent” he worked in a fiduciary capacity for many high net-worth individuals.
28 ’

P o 7

A747 Exocitlive

sﬂ‘n’;é‘ﬁigcf‘é’it%gg ot 1014 DARRYL, COTTON'S OPPOSITION TO LARRY GERACI'S DEMURRER TO THE SECOND AMIINDED
i CROSS-COMPLAINT




—_

R - TR = U ¢ S . A % B S ]

R R DS T R T C T g ’
S IR I - - - T T N vl R e

28

FINGH, THORNTON &
BAIRD, LLP
4747 Exaculive

Dilva - Sulte
San Diego, CA
{858) 7373

700

(SACC, p.3 79(2).)
Cotton, in short, has plead his intentional tort claims.

2. Cotton Alleges Facts Proving that
Geraci Enpaped in Negligent Misrepresentation

To prevail on the tort of negligent misrepresentation, Cotton must show that Geraci
made statement of facts that were false and that no reasonable person would have believed
them to be true. (Tarmann v. State Farm (1991) 2 Cal.App.4th 153.) Cotton does precisely
this in his SACC. For instance, Cotton alleges that, “[o}n multiple occasions, Getaci
tepresented to Cotton that Geraci had not yet filed a CUP application with respect to the
Property when [in reality] the CUP application had already been filed” and that “[o]n multiple
occasions Geraci represented to Cotton that the preliminary wotk of preparing a CUP
application was merely underway, when, in fact, the CUP application had already been filed.”
{(SACC, p. 14, § 45(d)-(¢) [emphasis added]}. Each of these italic stafements is a statement of
fact that Geraci had no reasonable grounds for believing true: It was Geraci, afier all, who
sontrolled the handling of Cotton’s CUP application and who uttered these statements knowing
that could not have been true.

Accordingly, Cotton has plead his Negligent Misrepresentation canse of action,

3. Cotton Alleges Reasonable Reliance on Geraci’s

Misrepresentations and Accordingly, Geraci’s Demurter
to the Second, Third, and Fourth Causes of Action Fails

Geraci requests dismissal of Cotton’s Intentional Misrepresentation, _Negliéent
Misrepresentation, and False Promise Causes of Action on the grounds that Cotton could not
have reasonably relied on Geraci’s representations. He lodges a few arguments in support of
this claim; however, none of them are persuasive. In fact, Geraci repeatedly argues the merits
of the facts rather than addressing the sufficiency of the allegations. Accordingly, the demutrer
request has no merit,

Geraci first asserts, that the alleged misrepresentations contradict the terms of the

parties” agreement and therefore “proving justifiable reliance is an uphill battle.” (Demurret,

8
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p. 14, Ins. 921 {citing a slew of case law to that effect] femphasis added].) Of course, at the
pleading stage the qﬁestion is not one of proof but of allegations, and here Cotton has met his
burden, Further, there is no contradiction between the terms of the agreement alleged by
Geraci and the allegations of misrepresentation asserted by Cotion,

Geraci also argues that Cotton could not have reasonably relied on Geraci’s oral
representations because those tetms “directly conflict with the clear, unambiguous written
agresl;ﬂant signed by Cotton” in November 2016, (Demurrer, p. 14, Ins, 22-27.) Yet, Cotton’s
Intentional Misrepresentation, Negligent Misrepresenta_tion, and False Promise Canses of
Action sound in fors® — not contract—and ate ot even subject to the same confines that the

parole evidence rules places on contractual actions. (See, e.g,, Riverisland Cold Storage, Inc.

v, Fresno-Madera Production Credit Association (2013)1 55 Cal.App.4th 1169, 1172 [“The

parol evidence mle profects the integrity of written confracts by making their terms the

‘exclusive evidence of the parties® agreement.”]) Gerael is siruply mistaken in asserting that the

strictures of contract law preclude Cotton from reasonably relying on Geraci’s oral
representations in proving his tort claims,

~ Geraci finally asserts that Cotion could not have reasonably relied on Geraci’s
representations because Cotton harbored concern that Geraci would breach the parties’
agreement. (Demurrer, p. 15, Ins. 1-2. [quoting SACC p. 6,9 17.]) Geraci’s argument,
however, falsely equates fear that a party would breach an agreement with an absence of
justifiable reliance. Yet, as everyday life reveals, one can justifiably rely on another’s promise
while simultaneously harboring concern that the person may not live up to expoctations — as,

for instance, occurs when a senior lawyer relies on a junior lawyer’s promise fo meet a

pressing deadline.

3 Case law confirms this. “Fraud is an intentional fort; 1t is the element of fraudulont infent, or intent to deceive,
that distinguishes it from actionable negligent misrepresentation and from nonactionable innocent
misrepresantation, It s the element of infent which makes fraud actionable, irrespective of any contractual or
fiduciary duty one by party might owe to the other” (Cily of Atascadero v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenper &
Shilth (1998) 68 Cal. App.4th 445, 482.) “Negligent misrepresentation is a separate and distinct fort, o species of
the tort of doceit.”” (Bock v. Hanser (2014) 225 Cal.App.4ith 215, 227228, All emphasis in quotes are added.

9
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In sum, Geraci’s general assault on Cotton’s Second, Thitd, and Fourth Causes of

Action fail,

D, Geraci’s Additional Arguments Directed at
Cotton’s Third_Cause of Action Fare No Better

Geraci additionally — and independently — seeks to demurrer Cofton’s Third Cause of
Action (Negligent Misrepresentation) on two more grounds, Geraci first argues that Cotton’s
negligence claim is impermissibly based on foture promises and not on confemporary A
representations that Geraci made. (Demutrer, p. 15-16 [quoting Tarmann v. State Farm (1991)
2 Cal.App.4th 153, 158 for the proposition tﬁat “to be actionable, a negligent misrepresentation
must ordinarily be as to past or existing material facts, [Plredictions as to future events or
statements as fo future action by some third party, are deemed opinions, and nof actionable
fraud.”]}

Geract, however, ignores Cotton’s allegations that shov;r that Geraci made
contemporary representations of fact that Geraci had no reasonable grounds for believing true.
For instance, Cotton alleges in his SACC that, “[o]n multiple occasions, Geraci represented to
Coftton that Geraci had not vet filed a CUP application with respect to the Property _when fin
reality] the CUP application had already been filed” .and that “[o]n multiple occasions Geraci
represented to Cotton that the preliminary work of preparing a CUP application was merely
underway, when, in_fact, the CUP application had already been filed.” (SACC, p. 14, §45(d)-
(e) [emphasis added]). Accordingly, Cotton has alleged facts supportive of his allegation that
Geraci negligently misrepresented facts. -

Geract also argues that Cotton’s negligence claim is demurrable because California law
precludes a party from simultaneously pleading a claim for negligent misrepresentation and
intenticnal fraud, but that Cotton has plead both, (Demurrer, p. 15, Ins, 9-28.) Tn support of
this argument, Geraci quotes an excerpt of Tarmann v, State Farm (1991) 2 Cal.App.4th 153,

158-159 that reads, “[f]he specific intent requirement also precludes pleading a false promise

10

1¢+3 . DARRYL COTTON'S GPPOSITION TO LARRY GERACI'S DEMURRER TO THE SECOND AMENDED

CROSS-COMPLAINT




1 claim as a negligent misrepresentation, i.e., ‘the assertion, as afact, of that which is not true,
2 by one who has no reasonable ground for belleving if to be true.’” (italics in Geraci’s
3 Demurrer),
4 Geract, however, misconstrues the excerpted portion of Tarmann, The -court in
5 Tarmann was discussing the substantive elements ihat a party must prove to prevail on a
6 negligent misrepresentation claim, and, in the portion of the opinion that Geraci quotes, the
7 court metely was instructing that a party cannot establish a negligent misrepresentation claim
8 by proving the same mens rea level — Le., specific intent — that is required to establish an
o intentional misrepresentation elaim. (Farmann, supra, 2 Cal. App.4th at p. 159.) Critically,
10| the Tarmann court did not, not did it seek to, diminish California’s well-known and generally~
11| applicable procedural rule permitting parties to plead inconsistent legal theories. (E.g.: Lim v.
12§ The, TV Corp, Internat (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 684, 691 [noting that a party may plead
13 || inconsistent legal theoties based on a common set of operative facts.]) Once again, Geraci’s
14| attempt to demutrer Cotton’s negligence claim is unavailing. -
15 v
16 CONCELUSION
17 For the foregoing reasons, the Court should overrule Geraci’s demunrers as to every
181 cause of action contained in Cotton’s SACC, Should the Court find merit in any of Geraci’s
194 arguments, the Court should grant leave to Cotton to amend,
20| DATED: October 23, 2017 Respectfuily submitted,
21 FINCH, THORN IRD, LLP
22
23 By:
DAVID S. DEMIAN
24 ADAM C, WITT
RISHI 8. BHATT
25 Attorneys for Defendant and Cross-Coraplainant
Darryl Cotton

26
27|  2403.004/3C07994.amq
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DOES 1 through 10, inclusive, DEMURRER TO SECOND AMENDED
CROSS-COMPLAINT BY DARRYL
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: [IMAGED FILE}
DARRYL COTTON, an individual,
DATE: November 3, 2017
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V.
Complaint Filed: ~ March 21, 2017
LARRY GERACI, an individual, REBECCA Trial Date: May 11,2018
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Cross-Defendants.

Plaintiff and Cross-Defendant LARRY GERACI (hereafter “Geraci” or “Plaintiff”) respectfully
submits these reply poiats and authorities in support of his demmurer to Defendant and Cross-
Complainant DARRYL COTTON’S (hereafter “Cotton” or “Cross-Complainant”) Second Amended
Cross-Complaint filed on August 25, 2017 (hereafter “SAXC”) and in response to Cotton’s opposttion

arguments.
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511N INTRODUCTION

jl were incorporated into that document and together evidence the basic terms of the agreement,
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|| promise, Cotton cannot overcome his own admissions in his pleadings that he was hesitant and |
{iterms. (SAXC Y17.) Given these admissions, Cotton has failed to allege reasonable and justifiable
|} reasonable and justifiable reliance on any statements made by Geraci.

1] Geraci should be disregarded because it discussed the proof necessary to prevail on a negligent

{ misrepresentation claim rather than the pleading requirements for such a claim. That argument is

Cotton’s Opposition to Geraci’s Demurrer to the Second Amended Cross-Complaint
(hereinafter “Opposition™) is unpersuasive as to the issues raised in the Demurrer,

Contrary to the allegations in his prior pleadings and, in particular, the subject SAXC, Cotton
argues that the agreement between the parties is comprised of the November 2, 2016 written agreement

(hereafter “Written Agreement™) and certain November emails (hereafter “November Emails™) which |

(Opposition, 2:17-23.). Cotton’s argument fails for a number of reasons: 1) the ‘emails were not
integrated into the Written Agreement; 2) even if the November Emails were integrated into the Written
Agreement, they are not signed by Geraci, and therefore are barred by the statute of frauds; 3) the
November Emails do not in and of themselves evidence an agreemment between the parties; and
4) Geraci has done everything required of him under the ‘Written. Agreement and therefore has not

breached the contract itself nor the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, |

As to Cotton’s causes of action for intentional and negligent misrepresentation and false
understandably concerned, and despite his hesitation, concerns, and reservations he agreed to Geraci’s
reliance. At a minimum, he has not pleaded facts which would lead one to conclude he acted in-

Finally, Cotton argues that the Tarmann v. State Farm (1991} 2 Cal.App.4th 153 case cited by

erroneous. The Tarmann case arose on demurrer and the Court specifically stated that “[t}he specific _
intent requirement [of pleading intentional fraud] precludes pleading a false promise claim as a
negligent misrepresentation . . .” Cotton cannot plead intentional fraud and negligent
misrepresentation.

1/

11
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IL. LEGAL ANALYSIS
A, No Integration of Emails with Written Contract

“Under California law, parties may validly incorporate by reference into their contract the terms
of another document.” (Baker v. Aubry (1989) 216 Cal.App.3d 1259, 1264.) The reference to the
incorporated document must be clear and unequivocal and the terms of the incorporated document must
be known or easily available to the contracting parties. (Spellman v. Secu}'ities, Annuities & Ins.
Services, Inc. (1992) 8 CalApp.4th 452, 457, Chan v. Drexel Burnham Lambert, Inc. (1986)
178 Cal.App.3d 632, 641; Baker v. Aubry, supra, 216 Cal.App.3d at p. 1264; Slaught v. Bencomo
Roofing Co. (1994) 25 Cal App.4th 744.)

Neither the actual November 2, 2016 Written Agreement signed by the parties nor the
November Emails, which Cotton alieges “evidence” the basic terms of the contract, contain any
langnage of incorporation let alone language making a clear and unequivocal reference to the allegedly
incorporated document. The Written Agreement signed by the parties does not make any reference to

those emails being incorporated into the Written Agreement. Therefore, the emails are not incorporated

1into the signed contract as a matter of law.

B. Statute of Frauds
Cross-Complainant arpues that the SAXC “alleges the existence of a written agreement that is
not subject to the Statute of Frauds.” (Opposition, 2:1-2.) This argument misses the mark.

A contract coming within the statute of frauds is invalid unless it is memorialized by a writing:

‘subscribed by the party to be charged or by the party’s agent. (Civ. Code, § 1624.) And it js clear that

an agreement for the sale and purchase of real property comes within the statute of frauds. (Civ. Code,
§-1624(a)(3).) Cotton’s claims alleged in the SAXC unquestionably arises out of an agreement
regarding the sale and purchase of real property.

Cross-Complainant further argues that the parties executed an ambiguous document (the Written
Agreement) and exchanged emails (the November Emails) which were fncorporated into that
document. Cross-Complainant asserts summarily that the Wriiten Agreement and November Emails
“combine to evidence the following basic terms of agrecement, all as alleged in the SAXC”

(Opposition, 2:22-23, emphasis added.) This argument also misses the mark,
3
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First, the terms and conditions of the Written Agreement, a one-page document which is attached:

1o both the underlying Complaint and the SAXC, are clear and unambiguous.

Cotton clearly alleges in all of his prior cross-complaints, including the instant SAXC, that “[o]n
November 2, 2016, Geraci and Cotton met at Geraci’s office ... [and] the parties reached an agreement
on the material terms for the sale of the Property.” (SAXC §13.) At that November 2, 2016 meeting

the parties executed the Written Agreement, which states the following material terms and conditions:

Darryl Cotton has agreed to sell the property located at 6176 Federal Blvd, CA
for a sum of $800,000.00 to Larry Geraci or assignee on the approval of a
Marijuana Dispensary. (CUP for a dispensary)

Ten Thousand dollars (cash) has been given in good faith earnest money "to be

applied to the sales price of $800,000.00 and to remain in effect until license is
approved. Darryl Cotton has agreed not o enter into any other contacts on this

propetty.
(SAXC ] 18.) These terms and conditions could not be more clear and unambiguous..
Cotton goes on to attempt to allege an oral agreement, or a partly written ‘and partly oral

agreement, entered into on that November 2, 2016, date with the alleged oral terms and conditions.

adding to and/or varying from the terms set forth in the writing in the Written Agreement. Those

allegations cannot, as a matter of law, survive the Statute of Frauds.

The Written Agreement is the controlling evidence under the statute of frauds. Cotton alieges,
based on extrinsic evidence, that the actual agreement between the parties contains material terms and
conditions in addition to those in the written agreement as well as a term (a $50,000 deposit rather than
the $10,000 deposit staied in the written agreement) that expressly conflicts with a term of the
November 2, 2016 agreement. However, such a claim cannot stand as extrinsic evidence cannot be
employed to prove an agreement at odds with the terms of the written memorandum. (Beazell v.
Schrader, (1963) 59 Cal.2d 577.) Cotton’s argument that the $10,000 deposit term .in the Written
deposit is absurd. Nowhere in his allegations are facts from which it can be inferred that they are
anything except conflicting and contradictory terms.

Second, Cross-Complainant asserts that the November Emails “. . . are subscribed to by Geraci

and are therefore outside the purview of the statute of frauds.” {Opposition, 4:12-13.) Apparently,
4
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Cross-Complainant is arguing that the signature block at the bottom of the emails containing Geraci’s
name is tantamount to a signed agreement which would satisty the statute of frauds, i.e., some sort of
electronic signature within the meaning of Uniform Electronic Transactions Act (“UETA™), Civil Code
section 1633.7. Cross-Complainant is mistaken.

Civil Code section 1633.7(a) provides:

(@) A record or signature may not be denied legal effect of enforceability solely

because it is in electronic form. .
(6 A contract may not be denied legal effect or enforceability solely because an
electronic record was used in its formation.
(©) If a law requires a record to be in writing, an electronic record satisfied the law.
(d) Ifalaw requires a signature, an electronic signature satisfies the law.”

“An electronic record or electronic signature is attributable to a person if it was the act of the
person. The act of the person may be shown in any manner . . ..” (Civ. Code, § 1633.9(a); sce also M v.
Slocum (2011) 196 Cal. App.4th 1636, 1647 [“the Legislature has, through these provisions, expressed
general approval of the use of electronic signature in commercial and governmental transactions].)

Civil Code section 1633.2(h) defines an electronic signature as “an electronic sound, symbol, or
process attached to or logically associated with an electronic record and executed or adopted by a
person with the intent to sign the electronic record.” UETA applies, however, only when the parties
consent fo conduct the transaction by electronic means. (Civ. Code, § 1633.5(b).) “Whether the
parties agree to conduct a transaction by electronic means is determined from the context and
surrounding circumstances, including the parties’ conduct . . ..” (fbid)) “A party that agrees to conduct

a transaction by elecironic means may refuse to conduct other transactions by electronic means . . ..”

(Civ. Code, § 1633.5(c).)

However, while attributing the name on an e-mail to a particular person and determining that
the printed name is “[t]he act of [this] person™ is a necessary prerequisite to considering it a valid
signature, it is insufficient, by itself, to establish that it is an “electronic signature.” (Civ. Code,
§ 1633.9(a).) Subdivision (h) of section 1633.2 states that “[e]lectronic signature means an electronic
sound, symbol, or process attached to or logically associated with an electronic record and executed or
adopted by a person with the infent to sign the electronic record,” (Emphasis added. See also Cal.

Civ. Jury Inst, No. 380 [party suing to enforce an agreement formalized by electronic means must
35
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prove “based on the context and surrounding circumstances, including the conduct of the parties, that
the parties agreed to use [e.g., e-mail] to formalize their agreement”].) By Cross-Complainant’s own
allegations, that was not the case. Rather, cotton alleges the parties intended to finalize the entire
agreement in a formal, signed agreement, not via emails. And he alleges that never happened because
Geraci refused to include in the Written Agreement the additional and varying terms and conditions
agreed to orally on November 2, 2016.

“Whether the parties agree to conduct a transaction by electronic means is determined from the
context and surrounding circumstances, including the parties’ conduct . . ..” {Civ. Code, § 1633.5(b).)
The absence of an explicit agreement to conduct the transaction by electronic means is not, by itself,
determinative, however, it is a relevant factor to consider. (Sec JBB Investment Partners, LTD v. Fair
(2014) 232 Cal.App.4th 974.

There is no allegation that there was an express agreement between the parties to conduct
negotiations electronicaily and be bourd by electronic signatures. Nothing contained within the emails
supports a conclusion that the parties agreed that Geraci’s printed name at ‘the bottom of emails was

intended to be a legally binding signature. Nor does anything in the November Email exchange

indicate that the parties agreed to conduct a transaction by electronic means. *Thus, thé emails do not:

amount to an electronic signature under the UETA, and if they are part of the agreement, they violate
the staite of frands.

C. Nor is Geraci’s Signature Block on the E-Mails a “Signature” Under Law of

Contract
A typed name at the end of an e-mail is not, by itself, a signature under case law, “[[ft is a

universal requirement that the statute of frauds is not satisfied uvnless it is proved that the name relied
upon as a signature was placed on the document or adopted by the pariy to be charged with the
intention of quthenticating the writing.” (Marks v. Walter McCarty Corp. (1929) 33 Cal.3d 814, 820.)

There are no factual allegations that directly allege or from which it can be inferred that Geraei
intended his brief email statements to be a legally binding contract.

Moreover, Cross-Complainant alleges that “[t]he parties further agreed to cooperate in good

faith to properly reduce the complete agreement, including all of the agreed-upon terms [as alleged by
6
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Cotton in 9 14], to writing.” (SAXC §13.) The SAXC makes clear this never happened. The only
writing signed was the Written Agrecment containing the material terms and conditions set forth
therein.

D. The SAXC Does Not Allege Actionable Breach

The actionable breach of which Cros.s-Com;ﬂainant complains is “He breached at least one
material term of it, vz, the promise to negotiate in good faith to deliver a proposed final agrcement, the
promise to deliver a 10 percent interest in the property, and failing to pay the amounts due for the
50,000.00 deposit. (SAXC, p. 11. §36.)” (Opposition, 6:10-12). Cross-Complainant goes on to assert
that “Without question, the SAXC alleges just such a breach, namely, that Geraci intentionally delayed
further negotiations, that Geraci failed to deliver purchase documents, and that Geraci failed to full pay
the agreed-upon $50,000 deposit. (SAXC, p. 11, 36).” (Opposition, 6:21-24.)

The flaw in Cross-Complainant’s reasoning is that none of these alleged obligations were

contained within the legally binding, signed written contract. Rather; these are terrus and conditions

Plaintiff has performed everything required of him so far under the Written Agreement and Cross-
Complainant canniot and has not alleged otherwise.
E. Coiton Cannot Overcome His Own Admissions That He Acted, Not on Geraci’s

Representations, But In Spite of His Hesitations and Concerns Over Geraci’s
Representations — Hence No Reasonable or Justifiable Reliance

As to Cotton’s causes of action for intentional and negligent misrepresentation and false
promise, Cotton cannot overcome his own admissions in his pleadings that he was hesitant,
understandably concerned and despite his hesitation, concerns and reservations he agreed to Geraci’s
terms. (SAXC Y 17.) Given these admissions, Cotton has failed to allepe reasonable and justified
reliance. At a minimum he has not pleaded facts which would lead one to conclude he acted in
reasonable and justified reliance on any statements made by Geraci.

F. Cotton Alleges that Geraci Made Numerous Confemporaneous Representations of

Fact that Geraci Had No Reasonable Ground for Believing True — This Allegations

zsk.re g]elied by the Fact That They Occurred After the Written Agreement Was
igned.

Cotton argues that Geraci made many contemporaneous representations such as “[oln multiple
7
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oceasions, Geraci represented to Cotton that Geracf had not yet filed a CUP application with respect to
the Property when [in reality] the CUP: application had already been filed” and that “[oln raultiple
occasions Geraci represented to Cotton that the preliminary work of preparing a CUP application was
merely underway, when, In fact, the CUP application had already been filed,” (SAXC, p. 14; Y 45(d)-
(e} [emphasis added.]y* (Opposition, 10:15-21.}

With regard to -ézch of fliese alleged misrepresemtations, they all oceurred after the Written

Agreentent was signed by both pattics and after the November- Emails, which- Colion now claimis are

fpéﬂ of the agreement between the parties “evidencing” the basic terms of the contract: As such, Cotton

has failed to.allege: that: 1) he redsonably and justifiably relicd on these “false reptesentations™ as they.
were not yet.-made; 2) that these false representations caused barm. or damage; and 3) that Cotton’s
justified and réasonable rélianceon these false representations-caused him harm or'damage, 4ll required
to prove Cotton’s figud claims, [CACI 1900, 1902, and 1903.]

.  CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons-and subject to a sufficient offer of proof, Geraci’s demurrers 1o cach

1| ef the causes of action should each be sustained without leave to amend.

Dated:October 27, 2617 FERRIS & BRITTON,
- : A Professional Corporation

o Nl R it

Michael R. Weinstein

Scott H. Toothacre ,
Atlomeys for Plaintiff and Cross-Defendant
LARRY GERACI
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FINCH, THORNTON & BAIRD, LLP . Superior?:ggﬂf['(lfa\l,ifrogﬁs,n
ATTDRNEYS AT LAW Gounty of San Diégo

A747 EXECUTIVE DRIVE - §UITE 100
SAN DIBEQO, CALIFORNIA 92125.5107

TELEFPHDHE: (B33} 737-3100
FACOIMILE: {858} T37-3101

10/06/2017 at 02:22:55 P

Cierlc of the Superior Court
By Eika Engel,Ueputy Clerk

_Attorneys for Petitioner/Plaintiff Darryl Cotton

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

CENTRAL DIVISION
DARRYY COTTON, an individual, CASENQ; 37-2017-00037675-CU-WM-CTL
Petitioner/Plaintiff, VERIFIED PETITION FOR _
ALTERNATIVE WRIT OF MANDATE
v, A [CODE CIV, PROC., § 1085]

CITY OF SAN DIEGO, e.public entity;.and
DOES 1 through 25,

Régpondentsfbefcﬁdants,

RERBECCA BERRY, an individual;

LARRY GERACI, an individual; and
ROES 1 through 23,

Real Parties In Interest,

2t

INTRODUCTION

1. Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1085 petitiones/piaintiff Darryl
Cotton (“Cotton™) seeks an aiternative wiit of mandate and a peremptoxy writ of mandste
directing reSpondents/defendan!s City of San Dlego {“City”) and DOES 1 through 25 to: (1)
recognize Cotton, the sole record owner of the real property located at 6176 Federa! Boulevard,
Sz;n-Diego, California 92105 (“Ptopetty™), as the sole applicant with respect to Conditionﬁl
Use Permit Application— ProjectNo, 520606 (“Cotton Application™) for a Conditional Use
i’emi't {(*CUP”) to operaté & Medical Marijuana Consumer Cooperative (“MMCC") qt‘ the

VERIFIED FETITION FOR ALTERNATIVE WRIT OF MANDATS [CODE CIV. PROC, § 1085]




;o 1 Property; and (2) process the Cotton Application with Cotton as the sole applicant. In the
2 || alternative, Cotton seeks an order to show cause directed to the City as to why thé Court should
3 || not issue sueh a writ,
4 | 2. Therelief sought in paragraph | is'proper because Cotton has no other plaix,
3 || speedy, or adequate legal remedy, The relief i3 necessary because the City's refusal to
6 recognize Cotton as the sole applicant o the Cotton Application is lacking in evidentiary
7 support and inconsistent with the City’s logal duty, ‘
8 JURISDICTION, VENUE, AND PARTIES
9 3 The Court has jurisdiction over this petition pursuant to Cade of Civil Procedure
o] section 1085,
11 4, Venue is proper in this Court because the Cily is.a public entity located in‘this
) 12 judicial district and the property at issue i3 located in this judiciel district,
13 ) 5 Petitioner/plaintiff Cotton is, end at all times mentioned was, an individual t
. 14 [} livingand doing business in California. i
st 15 6. Respondent/defendant City is, and at all times mentioncd was, a public entity f
16 || organized and existing under the laws of California, '
17 7. Cotton is informed and belicves real party in interest Rebecca Berry (“Berry™)
18 l is, end gt all thues mentioned was, an individual living and doing business in the County of 1
" 191 San Diego,
26 8. Cotton is informed and belleves real party in interest Larry Geraci (“Gergei™) is,
20| and atall limes mentioned was, an individua! living atd doing business in the County of San .
22|l Diego,
23 9, Coatton does. not know the true names and capacitics of the.
24 || respondents/defendants named as DOES 1 th:"ough 25 and, therefore, sugs them by fictitious
25| names. Cotlonj’is informed and believes DOES 1 through 25 are i some way responsible for
26 || the cvents described in this petition or impacted by them. Cotton will seek leave to amend this
27 1| petition when the trus names and capacities of these parties have been ascettained,
: ﬁ,» T h ?8 .
qué%&;i%%“ ' IVERIFI'BD FETTTION FOR ALTERNATIVE WRIT OF MANDATE {CODE CIV, PROC.,, §1085]

*
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10. At all times mentioned each respondént/defendant was an agent, principal,
representative, alter ego, and/or employee of the others and each w_és at afl imes acting within
the course and scope of said agency, representation, and!m: employment and with the |
pormission of the others, ‘

11, . Cotton does not know thetrué names and capacities of the real pa-rties in interest
named as ROES 1 through 25 and, therefore, names them by fictitious names, Cotton js

informed and believes ROES 1 through 25 are in some way responsible for the events

- described in this pelition or impacted by them. Cotton will seek leave to amend this petition

when the true names and capagities of these pasties have been ascertained,

12, Atall imes mentioned each real party In interest was an agent, principal,
representative, alter ego, and/or employes of the others and each was al all times acting within
the course and scope of said agency, representation, and/or cmployment and with the

penmission of the others,

]

BACKGROLIND

13, - In or around August 2016, Geraci first contacted Cotton sesking to purchase the
Property, Geraci desired to-buy the Iiropcrty from Cotton because it meets certain
requiréments of the City for obtaining a CUP to operate-a MMCC at tho Property. The
Property is one of a very limited number of properties located in San Diego City Council
District 4 that. potentially satisfy the CUP requirements for a MMCC,

14, Overthe énsuing weeks and months, Geraci and Colton negotiated extensively
regérding the {erms of 2 potential sale of the Property, Cotton, ecting in good faith based upon
Geraci’s representations during the sale hegotiations, assisted Ge.raci with prefiminary due
diligence in ir;vesligating‘ the feasibility of a CUP application at thé Property while the parties
negotiated the terms of a possible deal, Flowever, despite the parties® work on a CUP
application, Geracl representéd to Cofton that a CUP application for the Property vould not

actu'all y be submitted until efter a critical zoning issue was resolved or the appllcation would

be summarily rejected by the City,

3
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.15, Onor around October 31,2016, Geract asked Cotton to execute an Ownership
Disclosure Statemént, which is a required component of all CUP applications. Geraci toid
Cotton that he needed the.signed document to show that Geiaci had aceess to the Property in
connection with his Jobbying efforts to rosolve the zoning issue and his eventual préparation of
a CUP application. Geraci also requested that Cotton sign. the Ownership Disclosure Statement -
as an indication of good-faith while the parties negotiated on the sale terms. At no time did ‘

Gergc,_i, indicate to Cotton that a CUP apnlication would be filed prior to the parties entering

& fina] written agreement for the sale of the Pr Property. In fact, Geraci repeatedly

m.aintained to-Cotton that the critical zoning issue needed to be resolved before a CUP
application could even be submitted.

16, The Ownership Disclosure Statement that Geraci provided to Cotton to sign in
October 2016 incorrectly indieated that Cotton had leased the Property to Beérry, However,
Cotton has ncver met Berry personally and never ehtered into a lease or any other type of
agreement with her Al the time, Geraol told Cotton that Befry was a trusted employee who
was very familiar with MMCC. opsrations and who was involved with his other MMCC
dispensaries. Cotton’s understanding was that Geraci was unable to list himself on the
application because of Geraci's other legal issues but that Berry was Geraci's agent and was
‘working in concert with him and gt his direction. Based upon Geraci’s assurances that fisting
Ben;y as a tenant on the Ownershiip Disclosure Statement was necessary and proper, Cofton
exeeuted the Ownership Diselosure Statement that Geraci provided to him. A true dnd correct
co p).' of the CUP application, including the Ownesship Disclosure Statement, is attached hereto
as Exhibit [, '

17.  OnNovember 2, 2016, Geraci and Catton met at Geraci’s office in an effort to
négotiate the final terms of their deal for the sale of the Property. The parties reached an
agreement on th.e miatoria} terms for. the sale éf the Pmﬁerty. The parties further agreed to
cooperate in-good faith to promptly teduce the complete agreement, includlng all of the

apréed-upot terms, to writing. .

4
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18, Atthe November 2, 2016 meeting, the parties executed a three-sentence
document related to their agreement on the purchase price for the Property at Geraci’s request, _
which read as follows;

Darryl Catton has agreed to sell the propetty located at 6176 Pederet Blvd, CA for
a sum-of $800,000.00 to Larry Geraci or assignee on the approval of a Merfjuana
Dispensary. (CUP for a dispensary) ;

Ten Thousand dollers (cash) has been given in good faith earnest money to be

-applied to the sales price of $800,000.00 and to remsin in effect untl license is
approved, Dairyl Cotton has agreed not to enter itito any other contacts on this

propérty.
A true end correct copy of the November 2, 2016 agreement is attached hoteto as Exhibit 2,
Geracl assured Cotton that tile document was intended to merely create a record of Cotton’s
receipt of the $10,000 “ggod-faith" deposit.and provide cvidence of the parties’ sgrecment on
the:purchase price and good-faith agreement fo entet into final inteprated agreement dOcuments.
related to the sale of the Property, A trl.;e end correct copy of the November 2, 2016 email is
attached herato as Exhibit 3,

19, Thereaﬂéx.', Cotton c‘ontir}uad to operate in good fai;h under the agsumption that
Geraci's attorney would promptly draft the fully integrated agreement docuntents as the parties

had agreed and the parties would shortly execute the vwritten agreements to document their

‘ngl'ecd-qpon deal, However, over the following months, Geraci proved generally unresponsive

and continuously friled to make substantive progress on his promises, including his promises
to promptly deliver the drafl final agreement documenté, pay the balanee of the non-refundable
deposit, and keep Cotton apprised of the status of the zoning issue,

20.  Overthe weaks and months that followed, Cotton repeatedly rcatfhed out to
Getaci regarding thé status of the zoning issue, the payment of the remaining balance of the
non-refundable depusit, and the status of the draft documents, For example, beiween January
18, 2017 and Febivary 7, 2017, the following exchange took place between Geraci and Cotton
viatext message:

NN

3
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Geraol: “The sign off date they said it’s going to be the 30th.”
Cotfon: “This fesolves the zoning issue?”

Geracl: *Yes”

Cotton: “Excellznt”,..

Cotton: “How goes it?"
Geraei: “We're walting for confirmation today at about 4 o*clock”

Cotton: “Whats new?”

Cotton: “Based on your last text 1 thought you'd have some information on the
zoning by now. Your lack of response suggests no resolution as of yet.”

Geract: “T'm just walking in with clients they resolved it its fine we're just.
waiting for final paperwork,”

_ TI:hc ebove communications between Geract and Cotton regarding the zoning issue conveyed to

» Cotton that the issue had still not yet been fully rosolved at that time. Geraci had previously

represented to Cotfon that the CUP.application could not be subnﬁttcd until the zoning issue
was .resélvéd. As it turns out, Geraei’s represenfations Were. untrue and he knew they were
untrue as he had already submitted the CUP application months prior.

21, Withrespect to the promised final agreement documents, Geraci continuously
failed to 'tiiﬁely déliver the documents as agreed. On February 27, 2017, nearly three months

efter the parties reiiched an agreement on the terms of the sale, Geraci fineily emailed Cotton a

draft feal estate purchase agreement. However, upon review, the draft purchuse agreement was .

missing fiany of the key deal pqints agreed upbn by the parties at their November 2, 2016
mesting, After Cotton called Geraci for an explanation, Geraci claimed it was simply dve.to
miséonimunication with hig attorney and promised to have her revise the agreement to
accurately reflect their deal points, '

22,  OnMarch 2, 2017, Getaci first cn{eiled Cotton a draft of the separate side
agreement that was to incorporate other terms of the parties® deal. Cotton immediately
reviewed the draft side agreement and emailed Geraci the next day regarding ceitain missirig
and inaccurate material terms. '
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1 23, OnMarch 7,2017, Ceraci emailed Cotton a revised draft of the side agreement ‘
2 “ along with e further request to change material terms of the parties’ dea!, Cotton, increasingly
‘3 frustrated with Geraci’s failure to abide by the parties’ agreement, responded to- Geraci on
4 || March 16,2017 in an emeil which included the following: . ;
3 We started thesc negotiations 4 months ago and the drafts and our
commuunications have not reflected what apgreed upon and are still far from
6 reflecting oiir orlginal agréement. Here is my proposal, please have yous atterney
Oina revise the Purchase Agreement and the Side Agreement to incorporate all
7 the-terms we have apreed upon so that we can execute final vérsions and get this
closed... Please contirm by Monday 12:00 PM whether we are on the same page
8 and you plan to confinug with our agreement ... If, hopefully, we can work
. through this, please confirm that revised final drafts that incorporatc the terms
9 will be provided by Wednesday at 12;00 PM. I promise to review and provide
I‘O fl comments that same day 80 we ¢an execute the same or next day.
1] 24,  On the same day, Cotton contacted the City’s Dcvélopment Project Manager
12| responsible for CUP applications. At that fime, Cofton discovered for the first time that
I3 Geracl had submitted a CUP application for the Property way haek on October 31, 2016,
1411 before fhe parfies even agreed upon the finsl terms of thelr deal apd contrary to Geraei’s
15 || express representations n;;cr'ﬂig previous five months, Cotton expressed his
16 " disappointment and frustration in the same March 16, 2017 email to Geraci;
17 I found out today that a CUP application for my property was submitted in
18 October, which.] sm assuming is from someone connected to youn. Although, I
' " note that you told me that the $40,000 deposit bafance would be paid once the
19 CUP was submitted and that you were waiting on certain zoning issues to be
y resolved. Which is not the case. '
20 _
21 25,  On Maich 17,2017, after Gernei requested an in-pérson meeting via text
22 1| mesusage, Cotton replied in an email to Geraci which including the following:
230 11111 '
Al 11117
250t 11111
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I would -prefer that until we have final agreements that we converse exclusively
via email. My greatest concemn is that you get & denjal on the CUP application
"and not provide the remaining $40,000 non-refundable deposit, To ba. frank, T
feel that you are not dealing with me in pood faith, you told me tepeatedly that
you could not submit a CUP application until certain zoning issués had been
resolved and that you had spent hundreds of thousands of dellars on getiing them
resolved. You lied (o me, I found out yesterday from the City of San Diego that
you submitted a CUP application on October 31 2016 BEFORE we even signed
our agieement on the 2nd of November.., Please confirm by 12;00 PM: Monday
that you are honoring our agreement and will have final drafis (reflecting
comipletély the below) by Wednesday at 12:00 PM.

Geraci did not provide the requested confirmation that he would honor their agreement or

 profier the requested agreements prior fo Cotton’s deadlines,

26, OnMar¢h21, 2017, Cotton emailed Geraci to-confirm their agreement was

" terminated and that Geraci had no Interest In the Property.

27, OnMarch22, 2017, Gemcei's attorney, Michael Weinatein (*Weinstein"),
emailed Cotton a.copy of a complaint filed by Geraci inwhich Geraci claims for the very first
time that the three-sentence document signed by the partics on November 2, 2016 coristituted
the parties” complete agreement regt;rdi'ng he Property, contrary to the parties’ further ¢
agreement the same da_y, the entire coutde of dealings between the parties, and Geraci’s own
statements.and actions,

28 On March 28, 2017, Weinstein emailed Cotton end indicated that Geraci

-intended to continue to pursie the CUP application and would be posting notices on Cotton’s

property, Cotton responded via email the same day and objectéd to Geraci or his agents

entering the Property and reiterated the fact that Geraci has no rights to the Property.

29,  OnMay 12,2017, Cotton filed a cross-complaint ‘against Berry and Geraci
i'ﬁcluding causes of action for breach of contract, intentional misrepresentation, negligent
nﬂsfepresentatioﬁ, and false. promise with respect to the purchase agreement and the cup
epplication, _

30,  OnSeptember 22, 2017, Cotton, throuéh his attorneys, demanded the City
remove Berry fiom the Cotton Application and process it for Cotton, A true and correct copy

of the September 22, 2017 letter is atizched hereto as Exhibit 4.
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30.  The City responded via email on September 29, 2017, but did not agres to
remove Berry from the Cotton Application and process it on behalf of Cofton.. A true and
correct copy of the September 29, 2017 email {a attached hereto as Exhibit $,

" FIRSICAUSEOF ACTION
{Writ of Mandate -- Against all respondents/defendants and alf real pariies in intercst)

31, Cotton incorporates by reference paragraphs | through 30 above asthough set
forth in full at this point. .

32. TheCityis subject to California law. The City is ftirthe'r responsible for
administering tne. CUP process according fo the San Diego Municipal Code (“Musiipal
Code™), and is obligated to perform the ministerial duties of: (1) recognizing Cotton as the sole
_applicant for the Cotton Application, &s réquired under Municipal Code sections. 112,0102 and
113.0103, and (2) processing the Cotton Apph‘éation with Cotton as the sole applicant and
financially responsible party: , |

33, Asthe record owner of the Property, Cofton has a clear, present, legal and
beneficial right in sesing that the City follows the Municipal Code and California law and
recognizes the cm_'_re-ct applicant with respect to the Cotton A pplication,

34, Cottoi has no plain, speedy and adeguate remedy in the ordipary course of law,

other than the writ by this petition, Cotton has exhausted all aveilable administrative remedies,

' ifeny, available to him. The only means by which Cofton may compel the City to follow the

Municipal Code and Califoraia law is this petition for a writ of mendate,

INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit - Deseiption .=
1 | CUP application incl. Ownetship Disclosure Statement
2 November 2, 2016 agreament
3 Email dated Noyember 2, 2016 between Cotton and Geraci
4
5

- Letter dated September 22, 2017 from Cotton to the City
Email dated September 29, 2017 from Clty to Cotton

1111
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1 ‘PRAYER FOR RELIEF
2 WHEREFORE, Cotton prays as follows:
3 l ON ALL CAUSES OF ACTION:
4 1, For a writ of mandate to be issued under Code of Civil Procédure section 1085,
5 and under séal.of this Courl, ordering the City to recognize Cotton as theé sole applicant with
6 respect to the Cotton Application and to-process the Cotton Application with Catton as the sole
7 || epplicant;
3 2. In the altcrnative, for an order Lo show cause dirceted to the City as to why the
9 Cotirt should not issue such a writ; and
10 3. For such other or further relief the Court deems just,
I1)| DATED: October6,2017 Respectfully submitted,
12 H ' FINCH, THORNTON & B LLP
13 -
. 14y - : By:
g i DAVID Sf
’ 15 ADAMC,
Attorneys for Petitioner/Plaintiff DARRYL
|6 COTTON
. 17
s 18y
' 19
j
20
21
22
d 23
24
25
26
27 [ 2409.002/3BX2350.hly
28
- .FENCH. THORNTON & 10 )
Son0iwie CAGEHY | “VERivmD FETTRONTOR ALTERNATIVE WRIT OF MANDATE [CODE CIV, PROC,, § 1085]
{858) 7323100 .
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; VERIFICATION
1, Darryl Cotton, have read this VERIFIED PETITION FOR ALTERNATIVE WRIT
i OF MANDATE [CODE CIV, PROC,, § 1085], and I am familiar with its contents. Tam -

informed and believe tho matters stated therein are frue and on that basis verify that the matiers .

stated therein are true,

! declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the
| :

above is true and ¢orrect fo the best of my khowledge.

Exeouted on_&£erike, ¢& 2017 in'San Diego, California,

W W 3 G v W N

Dary flon
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FERRIS & BRITTON SGuperior Gourt of California,
A Professional Corporation - Uounty of San Diego
ig/ﬁchael R. Weinste(in {(SBN 10661)64) D4MD2048 ot 11-10:00 A
cott H. Toothacre (SBN 14653 ke o :
501 West Broadway, Suite 1450 iy %ﬁﬁiﬁfgﬁaﬁﬁ %"f;fﬁ”gm

San Diego, California 92101
Telephone: (619) 233-3131
Fax: (619) 232-9316
mweinstem@ferrisbritton.com
stoothacre@ferrisbritton.com

Attomeys for Plaintiff/Cross-Defendant LARRY GERACT and
Cross-Defendant REBECCA BERRY

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION

LARRY GERACI, an individual, Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL
Plaintiff, Judge: Hon. Joel R. Wohlfeil
Dept.. C-73
V.

DECLARATION OF LARRY GERACI IN
DARRYL COTTON, an individual; and OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT DARRYL

DOES 1 through 10, inclusive, COTTON’S MOTION TO EXPUNGE LIS
PENDENS
Defendants.
[IMAGED FILE]
DARRYL COTTON, an individual, Hearing Date: April 13,2018
Hearing Time: 9:00 a.m.
Cross-Complainant,
Filed: March 21, 2017
V. Trial Date; May 11, 2018
LARRY GERACI, an individual, REBECCA
BERRY, an individual, and DOES 1
THROUGH 10, INCLUSIVE,
Cross-Defendants.
I, Larry Geraci, declare:
L I am an adult individual residing in the County of San Diego, State of California, and I

am one of the real parties in interest in this action. Ihave personal knowledge of the foregoing facts
and if called as a witness could and would so testify.
2. In approximately September of 2015, T began lining up a team to assist in my efforts to

develop and operate a Medical Marijuana Consumer Cooperative (MMCC) business (aka a medical

f
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marijuana dispensary) in San Djego County. At the time, I had not yet identified a property for the
MMCC business. T hired a consultant, Neal Dutta of Apollo Realty, to help locate and identify
potential property sites for the business. [ hired a design professional, Abhay Schweitzer of TECHNE.
I hired a public affairs and publié relations consultant with experience in the industry, Jim Bartell of
Bartell & Associates. In addition, I hired a land use attorney, Gina Austin of Austin Legal Group.

3 The search to identify potential locations for the business took some time, as there arc a
number of requirements that had to be met. For example: a) only four (4) MMCCs are allowed in a
City Council District; b)) MMCCs are not allowed within 1,000 feet of public parks, churches, child
care eenters, playgrounds, City libraries, minor-oriented facilities, other MMCCs, residential facilities,
or schools; ¢) MMCCs are not allowed within 100 feet of a residential zone; and d) the zoning had to be
proper as MMCC’s are allowed only in certain zones. In approximately June 2016, Neal Dutta
identified to me real property owned by Darryl Cotton located at 6176 Federal Blvd., City of San
Diego, San Diego County, California, Assessor’s Parcel No. 543-020-02-00 (the “Property”) as a
potential site for acquisition and development for use and operation as a MMCC. And in
approximately mid-July 2016 Mr. Dutta put me in contact with Mr. Cotton and I expressed my interest
to Mr. Cotlon in acquiring his Property if our further investigation satisfied us that the Property might
meet the requirements for an MMCC site.

4, For several months after the initial contact, my consultant, Jim Bartell, investigated
issues related to whether the location might meet the requirements for an MMCC site, including zoning
issues and issues related to meeting the required distances from certain types of facilities and residential
areas. For example, the City had plans for street widening in the area that potentially impacted the
ability of the Property to meet the required distances, Although none of these issues were resolved to a
certainty, I determined that I was still interested in acquiring the Property.

5 Thereatler 1 approached Mr. Cotton to discuss the possibility of my purchase of the
Property. Specifically, I was interested in purchasing the Property from Mr. Cotton contingent upon
my obtaining approval of a Conditional Use Permit (“CUP”) for use as a MMCC. As the purchaser, I
was willing to bear the substantial expense of applying for and obtaining CUP approval and understood

that if T did not obtain CUP approval then I would not close the purchase and I would lose my

2
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investment. I was willing to pay a price for the Property based on what I anticipated it might be worth
if I obtained CUP approval. Mr. Cotton told me that he was willing to make the purchase and sale
conditional upon CUP approval because if the condition was satisfied he would be receiving a much
higher price than the Property would be worth in the absence of its approval for use as a medical
marijuana dispensary. We agreed on a down payment of $10,000.00 and a purchase price of
$800,000.00. On November 2, 2016, Mr. Cotton and I executed a written purchase and sale agrcement
for my purchase of the Property from him on the terms and conditions stated in the agreement
(hereafter the “Nov 2nd Written Agreement™). A true and comrect copy of the Nov 2nd Written
Agreement, which was executed before a notary, is attached as Exhibit 2 to Defendant and Cross-
Defendant, Larry Geraci’s Notice of Lodgment in Support of Opposition to Motion to Expunge Lis
Pendens (hereafter the “Geraci NOL”). 11endered the $10,000 deposit to Mr. Cotton as acknowledged
in the Nov 2nd Written Agreement.
6. In paragraph 5 of his supporting declaration, Darryl Cotton states:
“On November 2, 2016, Geraci and [ met at Geract’s office to negotiate the final
terms of the sale of the Property. At the meeting, we reached an oral agreement

on the material terms for the sale of the Property (the “November Agreement”).

The November Agreement consisted of the following: If the CUP was approved,
then Geraci would, inter alia, provide me: (i) a total purchase price of $800,000;
(i) a 10% equity stake in the MO; and (iii) a minimum monthly equity
distribution of $10,000. If the CUP was denied, I would keep an agreed upon
$50,000 non-refundable deposit (“NRD”) and the transaction would not close. In
other words, the issuance of a CUP at the Property was a condition precedent for
closing on the sale of the Property and, if the CUP was denied, I would keep my
Property and the $50,000 NRD.” |
Darryl Cotton and I did meet at my office on November 2, 2016, to negotiate the final terms of
the sale of the Property and we reached an agreement on the final terms of the sale of the Property.

That agreement was not oral. We put our agreement in writing in a simple and straightforward written

3
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agreement that we both signed before a notary. (Sce paragraph 3, supra, Nov 2°¢ Written Agreement,

Exhibit 2 to Geraci NOL.) The written agreement siates in its entirety:

11/02/2016
Agreement between Larry Geraci or assignee and Darryl Cotton:

Darryl Cotton has agreed to sell the property located at 6176 Federal Blvd.,
CA for a sum of $800,000 to Larry Geraci or assignee on the approval of a
Marijuana Dispensary. (CUP for a dispensary.)

Ten Thousand dollars (cash) has been given in good faith earnest money to
be applied to the sales price of $800,000.00 and to remain in effect until the
license is approved. Darryl Cotton has agreed to not enter into any other
contacts [sic| on this preperty.

_Is/ I8!
Larry Geraci Darryl Cotion

I never agreed to pay Mr. Cotton a $50,000.00 non-refundable deposit. At the meeting, Mr.

Cotton stated he would like a $50,000 non-refundable depesit. I said “no.” Mr. Cotton then asked for a
$10,000 non-refundable deposit and I said “ok” and that amount was put into the writicn agreement.
After he signed the written agreement, I paid him the $10,000 cash as we had agreed. If I had agreed to
pay Mr. Cotton a $50,000 deposit, it would have been a very simple thiﬁg to change “$10,000” to
$50,000” in the agreement before we signed it.

I never agreed to pay Mr. Cotton a 10% equity stake in the marijuana dispensary. I never
agreed to pay Mr. Cotton a minimum monthly equity distribution of $10,000. If I had agreed to pay
Mir. Cotton a 10% equity stake in the marijuana dispensary and a minimum monthly equity distribution
of $10,000, then it would have also been a simple thing to add a sentence or two to the agreement to
say so.

What I did agree to was to pay Mr. Cotton a total purchase price of $800,000, with the balance
of §790,000 due upon approval of a CUP. [ the CUP was not approved, then he would keep the
Property and the $10,000. So that is how the agreement was written.

7. In paragraph 6 of his supporting declaration, Darryl Cotion states:

“At the November 2, 2016, meeting we reached the November Agreement,
Geraci: (i) provided me with $10,000 in cash towards the NRD of $50,000, for

which I executed a document to record my receipt thereof (the “Receipt™); (ii)

4
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promised to have his attorney, Gina Austin (“Austin™), promptly reduce the oral
November Agreement to written agreements for execution; and (i1i) promised to
not submit the CUP to the City until he paid me the balance of the NRD.”

1 did pay Mr. Cotton the $10,000 cash after we signed the Nov 2nd Written Agreement. As
stated above, [ never agreed to a $50,000 deposit and, if I had, it would have been a simple thing to
state that in our written agreement.

Mr. Cotton refers to the written agreement (i.e., the Nov 2nd Written Agreement) as a
“Receipt.” Calling the Agreement a “Receipt” was never discussed. There would have been no need
for a written agreement before a notary simply to document my payment to him of $10,000. In
addition, had the intention been merely to document a written “Receipt” for the $10,000 payment, then
we could have identified on the document that it was a “Receipt” and there would have been no need
to put in all the material terms and conditions of the deal. Instead, the document is expressly called an
“Agreement” because that is what we intended.

1 did not promise to have attorney Gina Austin reduce the oral agreement to written agreements
for execution. What we did discuss was that Mr. Cotton wanted o categorize or allocate the $800,000.
At his request, I agreed to pay him for the property into two parts: $400,000 as payment for the
property and $400,000 as payment for the relocation of his business. As this would benefit him for tax
purposes but would not affect the total purchase price or any other terms and conditons of the
purchase, I stated a willingness to Jater amend the agreement in that way.

I did not promise to delay submitting the CUP to the City until I paid the alleged $40,000
balance of the deposit. I agreed to pay a $10,000 deposit only. Also, we had previously discussed the
long lead-time to obtain CUP approval and that we had already begun the application submittal
process as discussed in paragraph 8 below,

8. Prior entering into the Nov 2nd Written Agreement, Darryl Cotton and I discussed the
CUP application and approval process and that his consent as property owner would be needed to
submit with the CUP application. I discussed with him that my assistant Rebecca Berry would act as

my authorized agent to apply for the CUP on my behalf. Mr. Cotton agreed to Ms. Berry serving as

5
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the Applicant on my behalf to attempt to obtain approval of a CUP for the operation. of a MMCC or
marijuana dispensary on the Property. On October 31, 2016, as owner of the Property, Mr. Cotton
signed Form DS-318, the Ownership Disclosure Statement for a Conditional Use Permit, by which he
acknowledged that an application for a permit (CUP) would be filed with the City of San Diego on the
subject Property with the intent to record an encumbtance against the property. The Ownership
Disclosure Statement was also signed by my authorized agent and employee, Rebecca Berry, who was
serving as the CUP applicant on my behalf. A true and correct copy of the Owmership Disclosure
Statement signed on October 31, 2016, by Darryl Cotton and Rebecea Betry is attached as Exhibit 1 to
the Geraci NOL. Mr. Cotton provided that consent and authorization as we had discussed that approval
of a CUP would be a condition of the purchase and sale of the Property.

9. As noted above, I had already put together my team for the MMCC project. My design
professional, Abhay Schweitzer, and his firm, TECHNE, is and has been responsible for the design of
the Project and the CUP application and approval process. Mr. Schweitzer was responsible for
coordinating the efforts of the team to put together the CUP Application for the MMCC at the Property
and Mr. Schweitzer has been and still is the principal person involved in dealings with the City of San
Diego in connection with the CUP Application approval process. Mr. Schweitzer’s declaration
(Declaration of Abhay Schweitzer in Support of Opposition to Motion to Expunge Lis Pendens) has
been submitted concurrently herewith and describes in greater detail the CUP Application submitted to
the City of San Diego, which submission included the QOwnership Disclosure Statement signed by
Darryl Cotton and Rebecca Berry.

10. After we signed the Nov 2nd Written Agreement for my purchase of the Property, Mr.
Cotton immediately began attempts to renegotiate our deal for the purchase of the Property. This
literally occurred the evening of the day he signed the Nov 2nd Written Agreement.

On November 2, 2016, at approximately 6:55 p.m., Mr. Cotton sent me an email, which stated:

Hi Larry,
Thank you for meeting today. Since we examined the Purchase Agreement in
your office for the sale price of the property I just noticed the 10% equity position

in the dispensary was not language added into that document. I just want to make
sure that we’re not missing that language in any final agreement as it is a factored

6
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clement in my decision to sell the property. Dil be fine if you simply
acknowledge that here in a reply.

I receive my emails on my phone. It was after 9:00 p.m. in the evening that I glanced at my
phone and read the first sentence, “Thank you for meeting with me today.” And I responded from my
phone “No no problem at all.” I was responding to his thanking me for the meeting,

The next day I read the entire email and 1 telephoned Mr. Cotton because the total purchase
price I agreed to pay for the subject property was $800,000 and I had never agreed to provide him a
10% equity position in the dispensary as part of my purchase of the property. 1 spoke with Mr. Cotton
by telephone at approximately 12:40 p.m. for approximately 3-minutes. A true and correct copy of the
Call Detail from my firm’s telephone provider showing those two telephone calls is attached as
Exhibit 3 to the Geraci NOL. During that telephone call I told Mr. Cotton that a 10% equity position in
the dispensary was not part of our agreement as I had never agreed to pay him any other amounts above
the $800,000 purchase price for the property. Mr. Cotton’s response was to say something to the effect
of “well, you don’t get what you don’t ask for.” He was not upset and he commented further to the
effect that things are “looking pretty good—we all should make some money here.” And that was the
end of the discussion.

11 To be clear, prior to signing the Nov 2nd Written Agreement, Mr. Cotton expressed a
desire to participate in different ways in the operation of the future MMCC business at the Property.
Mz. Cotton is a hydroponic grower and purported to have useful experience he could provide regarding
the operation of such a business. Prior to signing the Nov 2nd Written Agreement we had preliminary
discussions related to his desire to be involved in the operation of the business (not related to the
purchase of the Property) and we discussed the possibility of compensation to him (e.g., a percentage of
the net profits) in exchange for his providing various services to the business—but we never reached an
agreement as to those matters related to the operation of my future MMICC business. Those discussions
were not related to the purchase and sale of the Property, which we never agreed to amend or modify.

12. Beginning in or about mid-February 2017, and after the zoning issues had been resolved,
Mr. Cotton began making increasing demands for compensation in connection with the sale. We were

several months into the CUP application process which could potentially take many more months to
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successfully complete (if it could be successfully completed and approval obtained) and I had already
committed substantial resources to the project. I was very concerned that Mr, Cotion was going to
interfere with the completion of that process to my detriment now that the zoning issues were resolved.
I tried my best to discuss and work out with him some further compensation arrangement that was
reasonable and avoid the risk he might try to “torpedo” the project and find another buyer. For
example, on several successive occasions 1 had my attorney draft written agreements that contained
termos that I that I believed I could live with and hoped would be sufficient to satisfy his demands for
additional compensation, but Mr, Cotton would reject them as not satisfactory. Mr. Cotton continued
to insist on, among other things, a 10% equity position, to which I was not willing to agree, as well as
on minimum monthly distributions in amounts that I thonght were unreasonable and to which I was
unwilling to agree. Despite our back and forth communications during the period of approximately
mid-February 2017 through approximately mid-March 2017, we were not able to re-negotiate terms for
the purchase of the property to which we were both willing to agree. The Nov, 2nd Written Agreement
was never amended or modified. Mr. Cotton emailed me that [ was not living up to my agreement and
I responded to him that he kept trying to change the deal. As a result, no re-negotiated written
agreement regarding the purchase and sale of the property was ever signed by Mr. Cotton or me after
we signed and agreed to the terms and conditions in the Nov 2d Written Agreement.

13. Ultimately, Mr. Cotton was extremely unhappy with my refusal to accede to his
demands and the failure to reach agreement regarding his possible involvement with the operation of
the business to be operated at the Property and my refusal to modify or amend the terms and conditions
we agreed to in the Nov 2nd Written Agreement regarding my purchase from him of the Property. Mr.
Cotton made clear that he had no intention of living up to and performing his obligations under the
Agreement and affirmatively threatened to take action to halt the CUP application process.

14.  Mr. Cotton thereafter made good on his threats. On the morning of March 21, 2017, Mr.
Cotton had a conversation with Firouzeh Tirandazi at the City of San Diego, who was in charge of
processing the CUP Application, regarding Mr. Cotton’s interest in withdrawing the CUP Application.

That discussion is confirmed in an 8:54 a.m. e-mail from Ms. Tirandazi to Mr. Coiton with a cc to
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Rebecca Berry. A true and correct copy of that March 21, 2017, at 8:54 a.m. e-mail is attached as
Exhibit 4 to the Geraci NOL.

15. That same day, March 21, 2017, at 3:18 p.m. Mr. Cotton emailed me, reinforcing that he
would not honor the Nov 2nd Written Agreement, In his email he stated that I had no interest in his
property and that “I will be entering into an agreement with a third party to scll my property and they
will be taking on the potential costs associated with any litigation arising from this failed agreement
with you. A true and correct copy of that March 21, 2017, at 3:18 p.m. e-mail is attached as Exhibit 5
to the Geraci NOL.

16.  Four minutes later that same day, at 3:25 p.m., Mr. Cotton e-mailed Ms. Tirandazi at the
City, with a cc to both me and Rebecca Berry, stating falsely to Ms. Tirandazi: “... the potential buyer,
Larry Gerasi [sic] (cc’ed herein), and ¥ have failed to finalize the purchase of my property. As of today,
there are no third-parties that have any direct, indirect or contingent interests in my property. The
application currently pending on my property should be denied because the applicants have no legal
access to my property. A true and correct copy of that March 21, 2017, at 3:25 p.m. e-mail is attached
as Exhibit 6 to the Geraci NOL. Mr. Cotton’s email was false as we had a signed agreement for the
purchase and sale of the Property — the Nov 2nd Written Agreement.

17.  Fortunately, the City determined Mr. Cotion did not have the authority to withdraw the
CUP application without the consent of the Applicant (Rebecca Berry, my authorized agent).

18.  Due to Mr. Cotton’s clearly stated intention to not perform his obligations under the
written Agreement and in light of his affirmative steps taken o attempt to withdraw the CUP
application, I went forward on March 21, 2017, with the filing of my lawsuit against Mr. Cotton to
enforce the Nov 2™ Written Agreement.

19.  Since the March 21, 2017 filing of my lawsuit, we have continued to dilipently pursue
our CUP Application and approval of the CUP. Despite Mr. Cotton’s attempts to withdraw the CUP
application, we have completed the initial phase of the CUP process whereby the City deemed the CUP
application complete (although not yet approved) and determined it was located in an area with proper
zoning. We have not yet reached the stage of a formal City hearing and there has been no final

determination to approve the CUP. The current status of the CUP Application is set forth in the
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Declaration of Abhay Schweitzer.

20, M. Cotton also has made good on the statement in his March 21, 2017, at 3:18 p.m.
email (referenced in paragraph 15 above - see Exhibit 5 to the Geraci NOL) stating that he would be
“entering into an agreement with a third party to sell my property and they will be taking on the
potential costs associated with any litigation arising from this failed agreement with you. We have
learned through documents produced in my lawsuit that well prior to March 21, 2017, Mr. Cotton had
been negotiating with other potential buyers of the Property to see if he could get a better deal than he
had agreed to with me. As of March 21, 2017, Cotton had already entered into a real cstate purchase
and sale agreement to sell the Property to another person, Richard John Martin I1.

21. Although he entered into this alternate purchase agreement with Mr. Martin as early as
March 21, 2017, to our knowledge in the nine (9) months since, neither Mr. Cotton nor Mr. Martin or
other agent has submitted a separate CUP Application to the City for processing. During that time, we
continued to process our CUP Application at great effort and expense.

22, During approximately the last 17 months, T have incurred substantial expenses in excess
of $150,000 in pursuing the MMCC project and the related CUP application.

23.  Finally, Mr. Cotton has asserted from the outset of his lawsuit and, again, in paragraph
16 of his supporting declaration, that he did not discover until March 16, 2017, that I had submitted the
CUP Application back on October 31, 2016. That is a blatant lie. I kept Mr. Cotton apprised of the
status of the CUP application and the problems we were encountering (e.g., an initial zoning issue)
from the outset. Attached as Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of a text message Mr. Cotton sent me
on November 16, 2016, in which he asks me, “Did they accept the CUP application?” Mz, Cotton was
well aware at that time that we had already submitted the CUP application and were awaiting the City’s
completion of its initial review of the completeness of the application.  Until the City deems the CUP
application complete it does not proceed to the next step-—the review of the CUP application.

Iy
/1
/1
Iy
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1 delare under penalty of pequxy under the laws of the State-of Ca ifornia that the foregomg is
tre and correct. Executed this /’i £” day of April, 2018,
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